COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
TRIAL COURT OF THE COMMONWEALTH

Suffolk, ss. Superior Court Department
Civil Action No.
BETH DONOVAN, )
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)
CITY OF BOSTON ) AUG ~3 2020
Defendant ) SUPERIOR COURT-CIVIL
) MICHAEL JOSEPH DONOVAN

CLERK/MAGISTRATE
PLAINTIFE’S COMPLAINT

I. Nature of the Action

Plaintiff, Beth Donovan (“Donovan”), brings this action against the City of Boston
(“Boston”) for gender discrimination, hostile work environment based on gender,
retaliation, disability discrimination, and coercion, intimidation, threats and interfering
with the right to be free from discrimination in violation of Massachusetts General Laws,
Chapter 151B, Sections 4 (1), 4 (4), 4(4A) and 4 (16). Additionally, Donovan brings this
action against Boston for gender discrimination and retaliation in violation of Title VII of
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e et seq.

II. The Parties
Plaintiff, Beth Donovan, is a natural person residing in Boston, Suffolk County,
Massachusetts.
The City of Boston (“Boston™) is a municipality located in Suffolk County, *

Massachusetts. Boston Police Department (“BPD”), is a political subdivision of Boston

located at One Schroeder Plaza, Boston, Suffolk County, Massachusetts.
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II.  Venue
Venue is proper as Plaintiff resides in Boston, Suffolk County, Massachusetts,

IV. The Facts
Boston is an employer as defined under G.L. ¢.151B, § 1 (5). BPD is a paramilitary
organization with a well-defined command structure.
Donovan has been an employee of the BPD for approximately twenty-four (24) years.
Donovan’s work performance has always been satisfactory.
On or about January 20, 2017, Donovan was promoted to Deputy Superintendent-
Assistant Bureau Chief (Bureau of Field Services), and was one of the three highest
ranking female employees of the BPD. Donovan supervised approximately 1300
uniformed officers.
On October 13, 2013, Donovan was sexually assaulted by a male suspect at a
restaurant located in Boston, Massachusetts. Donovan called 911 and the BPD
responded.
The suspect identified himself as a police officer and the BPD initially refused to
transport and book the suspect. With the suspect were two off-duty police officers-
Roger Layden (“Layden”) and Patrick McGillicuddy (“McGillicuddy”). They were
made aware of the sexual assault, but never identified themselves as BPD officers or
offered any assistance,
As Donovan was confronting the suspect, Layden and McGillicuddy smiled,
McGillicuddy raised his hands over his head and mockingly said something to the
effect “Don’t worry 1 won’t touch you t0o.”
Finally, the suspect was transported to the C-11 station for processing. Donovan later

learned the suspect was not processed in accordance with normal procedures and was
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instead granted numerous special privileges including being allowed to roam the C-11
booking area freely and making cell phone calls.

Over the next few days Donovan was contacted by William Evans (“Evans™) who
held the rank of Superintendent at the time and Superintendent in Chief Daniel
Linskey (“Linskey”) concerning the events of October 13, 2013. 1 was told by both
that there were approximately eleven Internal Affairs Division (“IAD”) complaints
filed concerning the incident (including a number against Layden and McGillicuddy).
For the next several years Donovan would make inquiries regarding the status of the
IAD investigation and was always told it was ongoing. Donovan was never
interviewed as part of any IAD investigation.

The male suspect who sexually assaulted DOnovan was convicted of indecent assault
and battery.

On January 20, 2017, Donovan was promoted to Deputy Superintendent, and as part
of her duties she reviewed open IAD cases in the districts she supervised.

In March 2017, Donovan met with Frank Mancini (“Mancini”), Superintendent of
IAD, and went over the open IAD cases. At that meeting Donovan inquired about the
status of the IAD cases stemming from her October 13, 2013 sexual assault. Mancini
replied he would look into it.

On June 4, 2017, there was a high school graduation party at the home of Donovan’s
next door neighbor, Lieutenant Richard Driscoll (“Driscoll””) which she attended with
her husband. Driscoll is an employee of the BPD. Prior to June 4, 2017, Donovan
did not have any issues of significance with Driscoll or his family.

Donovan left the party around 10:00pm and returned to her home. The party at
Driscoll’s home continued and Donovan observed several kids urinating on her lawn

and her neighbor’s bushes. Donovan went next door and told Driscoll what she saw

and he told Donovan he would handle it.
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Soon after Donovan saw Driscoll and his wife outside at the top of their driveway.
Donovan went outside again and told Driscoll the music was too loud. Driscoll was
visibly intoxicated. Driscoll became enraged and threw his beer at Donovan. He then
screamed that Donovan was a “f-----~ c---"" and that “I was so f------- done.” Driscoll
screamed this at Donovan repeatedly.

Donovan realized that Driscoll was out of control and extremely intoxicated so she
returned to her house. Driscoll followed Donovan to the door screaming at her that
Donovan was a *f------- coward” and that she was “so f------ done.” Donovan entered
her home and tried to close the door but Driscoll began pushing against the door.
Finally, Donovan was able to close and lock it.

Driscoll then began banging against the door, ringing the doorbells and screaming,
“come out and fight me you f------ coward.” At that point Donovan called 911 and
reported what was going on. Donovan spoke with Lieutenant Beth Leary (“Leary™),
Superintendent William Ridge (“Ridge”) and Captain Robert Ciccolo (“Ciccolo”) and
reported what was happening.

Eventually police cars from Area C-11 of the BPD arrived. No officer came to
Donovan’s door even though she was the one that called 9-11. Finally, Ciccolo came
to Donovan’s door and told her he would deal with Driscoll and then returned a while
later to say that Driscoll was in bed and would not bother Donovan that night.
Despite Donovan’s 911 calls, calls to supervisors and reporting of the incident no
BPD incident report was filed on the night of the incident. No responding officers
were required to file reports.

Afterwards, Driscoll sent Donovan multiple texts apologizing for his discriminatory
and harassing behavior of June 4, 2017.

Donovan filed a report with her supervisor, Ridge who forwarded it to IAD

documenting the incident on June 5, 2017. Ciccolo also filed a report several days
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later. However, portions of BPD phone transmissions and call logs were destroyed
by persons unknown in order to make Driscoll’s assault of her “disappear.”
Additionally, the 1.1 report filed concerning the incident of June 4, 2017, was
downgraded and changed from a Breaking and Entering charge to simply Investigate
Premises by the Chief of Staff for the Police Commissioner, Superintendent Kevin
Buckley). This was way outside the norm.

Mancini entered Donovan’s complaint into the IAD system on June 5, 2017;
however, he deliberately changed the information she submitted.

On June 6, 2017, Lieutenant Brian McEarchern threatened Donovan that “[I] could
have charges against [me]” stemming from the June 4, 2017 incident.

On July 27, 2017, Donovan was ordered by Mancini to report to IAD for an interview
concerning her [AD complaint against Driscoll.

On July 28, 2017, Donovan was interviewed by IAD concerning the June 4, 2017,
incident. Donovan gave IAD the names and contact information of multiple
witnesses to Driscoll’s discriminatory and assaultive conduct on June 4, 2017,
However, IAD did not bother to contact witnesses until November of 2017 following
her repeated inquiries.

On August 4, 2017, Donovan met with Mancini and Sergeant Rich Dahill (“Dahill”)
to review the status of the October 13, 2013 incident and subsequent IAD
investigation.

Mancini told Donovan he looked into the alleged IAD investigation into the October
13, 2013, incident and said there was no investigation. When Donovan told him that
Evans and Linskey told her there was an investigation Mancini said they must have
been mistaken.

Donovan then told Mancini she knew officers that were interviewed as part of the

investigation. At this point Mancini smirked at her and said “clearly nobody found
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anything egregious enough to investigate.” Mancini blatantly lied as there was an
investigation,

Donovan was visibly shaking when she left Mancini’s office as Donovan had been
led to believe that there was an ongoing investigation since 2013, Donovan then
approached her supervisor, Superintendent Ridge and told him what occurred. Ridge
concurred that he was also led to believe that there was an ongoing investigation.
Donovan submitted a FOIA request to the BPD concerning the October 13, 2013 IAD
investigation. Donovan learned that eleven (11) officers were interviewed as part of
the investigation; however, Layden and McGillicuddy were not among those
interviewed,

On or about August 21, 2017, Donovan met with Evans and complained about how
Mancini was hostile towards women and explained how Mancini failed to investigate
her IAD complaints of October 13, 2013 (Sexual Assault Incident) and June 5, 2017
(Driscoll Incident). Evans assured Donovan that her IAD complaints would be
investigated.

On or about August 24, 2017, at the Boston Police Harbor Patro! Unit, Evans told
Donovan he spoke with Mancini. Evans stated he told Mancini “first Donna [Gavin]
and now Beth, people are going to think you have a problem with women.” Evans
then told Donovan Mancini stated “I love women!” At this point Evans burst out
laughing and when Donovan did not laugh he stated “1 know, 1 know he will get this
done.” Donovan was humiliated.

On September 23, 2017, Donovan was informed by Ridge that the Driscoll’s house
had been egged and she was suspected of doing it. While multiple people were
interviewed by 1AD (including Driscoll’s wife) Donovan was not.

After the June 4, 2017, incident Donovan had a number of home security cameras

installed at her residence. Donovan has video (which she alerted Superintendent
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Ridge and JIAD to) of a male youth walking up her street and throwing an egg at the
Driscoll’s home. No one from IAD bothered to view the video.

On September 26, 2017, Donovan was approached by Sergeant Mark Freire
(“Freire™) of the BPD Peer Support Unit. Friere told her “people were concerned
about my drinking.” Donovan was taken aback and asked what he was talking about.
Friere stated he was told Donovan was drinking during the October 13, 2013 incident,
the Driscoll incident and an incident in Marshfield (Donovan has a summer home in
Marshfield). Donovan explained that none of the incidents he mentioned had
anything to do with her drinking. Upon information and belief, Friere was sent to
speak to Donovan in an effort to intimidate her.

Evans, who was now the Police Commissioner, called Ridge and one of Donovan’s
subordinates into his office and called her a drunk.

On September 28, 2017, Donovan was informed by Captain John Danilecki
(“Danilecki”), who was under her chain of command and did not work in IAD, that
there were now IAD complaints lodged against Donovan concerning her interactions
with her neighbor in Marshfield.

On September 26, 2017, Donovan’s neighbor, Dick Reirdon (“Reirdon™) in
Marshfield filed for a Harassment Prevention Order against her. When Donovan
appeared in court to defend herself she noticed Lieutenant Fred Williams of BPD’s
IAD was present. Reirdon decided to withdraw his petition for a Harassment
Prevention Order and told Donovan’s attorney that the BPD/IAD instructed him to
file it against Donovan.

On or about November 18, 2017, Donovan was told Driscoll filed another police
report claiming his house was egged again. Upon information and belief, IAD

opened yet another complaint against Donovan.
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On or about January 11, 2018, Mancini told Donovan that IAD would not seek
complaints against Driscoll for his discriminatory, criminal and harassing behavior on
June 4, 2017.

On January 12, 2018, Donovan filed an application for a criminal complaint against
Driscoll.

On January 16, 2018, Donovan filed a complaint for hostile work environment based
on gender against Mancini with the BPD.

As a result of Donovan filing a complaint of discrimination, the BPD began
circumventing her in the chain of command, denying her access to information and
resources in conjunction with her job duties and responsibilities and not inviting
Donovan to important meetings.

Donovan was denied privileges/benefits normally extended to her male counterparts.
On or about February 16, 2018, there was a District Court hearing on Donovan’s
criminal complaint against Driscoll. Information that was confidential and in the
possession of IAD/BPD was leaked to Driscoll’s attorney and used in the proceeding.

IAD/BPD does not leak confidential information concerning male supervisory
employees.

On March 19, 2018, Sergeant Richard Fitzpatrick (“Fitzpatrick”) filed a frivolous
TAD complaint against Donovan concerning a report she submitted to Superintendent
in Chief Kevin Buckley on March 3, 2018.

On May 9, 2018, Donovan was placed on administrative leave. Her badge, weapon
and license to caity were confiscated by the BPD. Donovan, at the time, was not told
the reason for being placed on administrative leave. Donovan believes this was done

in retaliation for her filing complaints against Driscoll, Mancini and the BPD. BPD’s

conduct was degrading and humiliating,
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Neither Mancini nor Driscoll have been placed on administrative leave. Moreover, to
my knowledge none of the male officers who I have named in my IAD complaints
have ever been placed on administrative leave.

On May 24, 2018, Donovan was informed that Driscoll’s wife and an unnamed
source filed complaints against her for allegedly making a racial comment about
Chief William Gross (“Gross”). Donovan has never made any racial comments about
Gross.

The BPD has a pattern and/or practice of falsely accusing female supervisory officers
of making racial comments about male supervisory officers in retaliation for bringing
complaints of harassment/discrimination.

On or about April 19, 2018, the male suspect who was convicted of sexually
assaulting Donovan filed for a new trial with the Boston Municipal Court. Contained
within the pleadings was confidential and personal information concerning Donovan
which was leaked to the male suspect’s attorney by IAD/BPD. This was stated in
affidavit submitted by the male suspect’s attorney. This was done by the BPD in
retaliation for Donovan filing complaints of harassment and/or discrimination.

On or about July 30, 2018, Donovan filed a complaint with the Massachusetts
Commission Against Discrimination.

On or about September 22, 2018, Donovan was demoted from Deputy Superintendent
to Sergeant. This was done in retaliation for Donovan filing complaints of
harassment and/or discrimination.

Upon information and belief, the BPD has a pattern and/or practice of retaliating
against female supervisory officers when they make complaints of harassment and/or
discrimination against male supervisory employees.

As aresult of Defendant’s discriminatory and retaliatory behavior Donovan has

suffered emotional distress.
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COUNT ONE

GENDER DISCRIMINATION AND HOSTILE WORK

ENVIRONMENT BASED ON GENDER
(Violation of M.G.L, ¢,151B, § 4 [1])

Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained in Paragraphs 1

through 60 above and incorporates same by reference.

Defendant, Boston discriminated against Plaintiff with respect to terms, conditions,
and/or privileges of employment based on her gender as outlined above in paragraphs 1-
61. Additionally, Boston created and maintained a hostile work environment against
Plaintiff based on her gender.

As a result of the Boston’s conduct, Plaintiff has suffered damages, including but not
limited to, lost wages, emotional distress damages, costs, reasonable attorney’s fees and

interest.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Beth Donovan demands judgment against Defendant, City of

Boston, in an amount that the Court deems just, plus interest, costs, and attorneys’ fees where

applicable.
COUNT TWO
RETALIATION (Violation of M.G.L. ¢.151B, § 4 [4])
64.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained in Paragraphs 1

63.

66.

67.

through 63 above and incorporates same by reference.

Plaintiff engaged in protected activity by complaining of discrimination, to the BPD.
Plaintiff engaged in protected activity by filing a charge of discrimination with the
Massachusetts Commission Against Discrimination.

Defendant retaliated against Plaintiff for engaging in protected activity as outlined above

in paragraphs 1-66.
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68.  Asaresult of the Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff has suffered damages, including but not
limited to, emotional distress damages, lost wages, costs, reasonable attorney’s fees and
interest.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Beth Donovan demands judgment against Defendant, City of

Boston in an amount that the Court deems just, plus interest, costs, and attorneys’ fees where

applicable.

COUNT THREE
INTERFERENCE WITH THE RIGHT TO BE FREE FROM DISCRIMINATION
(Violation of M.G.L. ¢.151B, § 4 [4A]

69.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained in Paragraphs 1
through 68 above and incorporates same by reference.

70.  Plaintiff exercised rights granted and/or protected under M.G.L. ¢.151B as outlined in
Paragraphs 1-69 above.

71.  Defendant Boston interfered, coerced, intimidated and/or threatened Plaintiff as a result
of her activities outlined in Paragraphs 1- 70 above.

72.  Asaresult of the Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff has suffered damages, including but not
limited to, emotional distress damages, lost wages, costs, reasonable attorney’s fees and
interest.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Beth Donovan demands judgment against Defendant, City of

Boston in an amount that the Court deems just, plus interest, costs, and attorneys’ fees where

applicable. '

COUNT FOUR
DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION
(Violation of M.G.L. c.151B, § 4 [16])

73.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained in Paragraphs 1
through 72 above and incorporates same by reference.

11
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Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff with respect to terms, conditions, and/or
privileges of employment based on a perceived disability (alcoholism) as outlined above
in paragraphs 1-73.

As a result of the Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff has suffered damages, including but not
limited to, emotional distress damages, lost wages, costs, reasonable attorney’s fees and

interest.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Beth Donovan demands judgment against Defendant, City of

Boston in an amount that the Court deems just, plus interest, costs, and attorneys’ fees where

applicable.

76.

77.

78.

COUNT FIVE
GENDER DISCRIMINATION AND HOSTILE WORK

ENVIRONMENT BASED ON GENDER

(Violation of Title VIIL, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2)

Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained in Paragraphs 1

through 75 above and incorporates same by reference.

Defendant, Boston discriminated against Plaintiff with respect to terms, conditions,
and/or privileges of employment based on her gender as outlined above in paragraphs 1-
76. Additionally, Defendant created and maintained a hostile work environment against
Plaintiff based on her gender.

As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff has suffered damages, including but not
limited to, lost wages, emotional distress damages, costs, reasonable attorney’s fees and

interest.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Beth Donovan demands judgment against Defendant, City of

Boston, in an amount that the Court deems just, plus interest, costs, and attorneys’ fees where

applicable,
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COUNT SIX

RETALIATION (Violation of Title VII, 42 USC § 2000e-3)

Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation containéd in Paragraphs 1
through 78 above and incorporates same by reference.

Plaintiff engaged in protected activity by complaining of discrimination/retaliation to
Boston.

Plaintiff engaged in protected activity by filing a charge of discrimination with the
Massachusetts Commission Against Discrimination.

Defendant Boston retaliated against Plaintiff for engaging in protected activity as
outlined above in paragraphs 1-81.

As aresult of the Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff has suffered damages, including but not
limited to, emotional distress damages, lost wages, costs, reasonable attorney’s fees and

interest.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Beth Donovan demands judgment against Defendant, City of

Boston in an amount that the Court deems just, plus interest, costs, and attorneys’ fees where

applicable.

PLAINTIFF DEMANDS A JURY TRIAL ON ALL TRIABLE ISSUES.

PLAINTIFF,
BETH DONOVAN

-

Date: July 31, 2020 By: -

Dan V. Bair 11, Esq. {BBO# 654369)
dbair@danbairlaw.com

Dan V. Bair, Attorney at Law

15 Foster Street

Quincy MA 02169

Tel: (508) 277-0720

Fax: (617) 770-4091
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